IAC-12- E5.4.5

#### INNOVATIVE MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS DESIGNED FOR MICROGRAVITY: COSMICAL SEEDS

#### Space Artist, Ayako Ono, PhD (Cand.), MFA

Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine, Japan, a.ono@med.tohoku.ac.jp

#### Human Factors specialist, Irene Schlacht, MSc

Technische Universität Berlin, Germany, irene.lia.schlacht@gmail.com

# Metal Artist, So Negishi, MFA

Joshibi University of Art and Design, Japan, so.negishi@gmail.com

#### Prof. Shin Fukudo, MD, PhD

Tohoku University Graduate School of Medicine, Japan, sfukudo@med.tohoku.ac.jp

#### ABSTRACT

A pair of musical instruments named "Cosmical Seeds" suitable for weightlessness, was selected by the Japan Aerospace Exploration Agency (JAXA) to represent the theme of Cultural and Artistic Utilization of the International Space Station (ISS). The instruments were successfully launched on October 31, 2011; and NASA astronaut Daniel C. Burbank, Expedition 30 commander, operated and played the instruments on the ISS on February 10, 2012. The two pieces of music performed were a collaboration between an astronaut and ambient music specialists Akira Takahashi and Jaakko Saari.

This paper will present:

- Motivation which led to the creation of the musical instruments
- The concept of the project
- The results of the mission at the ISS
- Future possibilities

The astronaut played the instruments along with music repeatedly for 15 minutes and improved his skills beyond what was outlined in the procedure manual. Taking movies and audio recordings was very successful, and the video will be shown at this session.



Fig. 1: Video stills of the instrument played on board the ISS by astronaut Daniel C. Burbank, February 10th 2012 (© Ayako Ono / So Negishi / JAXA, Image collage by Irene Lia Schlacht).

# I. INTRODUCTION

A metal artist, So Negishi and a space artist and a PhD candidate in behavioral medicine, Ayako Ono developed the musical instruments together since 2009.

#### I.I Purpose of Theme

Space Musical Instruments - Cosmical Seeds were developed for use in microgravity, and were expected to enable the discovery of new sound expressions caused by different gravitational physical phenomena. Such discoveries have a possibility to inspire people and make opportunities for new unique musical instruments. We developed a pair of metal instruments, played in a similar manner to maracas and handbells, which could be played easily by anyone.

This theme, space musical instruments, will be a hobby and provide amusement during long-term space missions, now and in the future. Artistic expression could be a kind of tool for communication, and discovering this method of utilization is one of the objectives, as well.

#### I.II Background Concept

The long-term mission in the International Space Station (ISS) is now underway, but noise, sleep changes, danger, monotony, interpersonal issues, and isolation in the close-quartered environment cause significant stress. Stress related to psychiatric issues has been identified as possibly engendering problems in space [1–7]. Many psychophysiological stressors are associated with space flight [8–12]. Even if extremely healthy astronauts and cosmonauts are selected, some have experienced anxiety, depressive mood, and temporary amnesia in excessively stressful environments [4, 12, 13]. Therefore, psychophysiological supports for coping with stress during long-term space missions are important.

Art in space could offer a topic of conversation among crew members, as it does with people on the Earth. It could be a psychological support during the mission, because concentrating on creative activities allows individual time and self-reflection, and is therefore helpful to cope with isolation. By having this creative outlet, crew members will be able to improve interpersonal relationships, which could strengthen teamwork.

# **II. DESIGN OF THE INSTRUMENTS**

#### II.I Design Concept

When deciding features of musical instruments suitable for microgravity environment, we considered the portability for launch to the ISS, as well as thinking of operability, size, and durability.

We designed the sound to be beautiful in microgravity using strings to simulate an aerial

environment. In order to make different sounds, we used several materials: aluminum, brass, stainless steel, and wood. Therefore, the movement of each piece of the instruments will have different speed and sound because of its mass and the Law of Inertia

#### Two Instruments

Ellipsoid Bell has mainly three parts: the outer structure consisting of bars, like a cage; free floating contents consisting of one hollow brass ball with a slit and one wooden ball; and central inner structure consisting of a brass pipe and a brass ring which limits the range of motion of the pipe. The free floating contents, both of which have different mass, are supposed to hit both the inner and outer structures. (see Fig. 2)



Fig. 2: Ellipsoid Bell (© Ayako Ono / So Negishi / JAXA)

Fractal Bell has five concave wing-like plates which rotate around central axis (Y). These plates have some freedom on the Y axis and hit each other but they are restricted by stoppers. (Fig. 3)



Fig. 3: Fractal Bell (© Ayako Ono / So Negishi / JAXA)

These two instruments could be combined with a ball chain to create variations of method of play, and would offer dynamic and interesting movement.

# Visual Impact

The instruments have an organic and artistic shape. Genius architect Antoni Gaudi used organic design elements in his architectural projects, and it offers comfort because it feels more natural for viewers. The interior of the ISS is mechanical and artificial, so we believe that the organic shape would offer comfort.

# Wooden Fragrance and Tactile Stimuli

We also took olfactory and tactile stimuli into consideration, so we used cypress wood (Thujopsis dolabrata) which has fragrance that is said to have healing effects. It is well known that astronauts/cosmonauts enjoy touching plants during their missions, and we wanted to offer natural tactile stimulation [14].

The instrument can stimulate auditory, visual, olfactory, and tactile senses.

# **II.II** Materials and Settings

All material (see Table 1) and how to connect were checked if they are no problem for the ISS environment, before start creating final version of the instruments.

Instruments	Size (mm)	Materials
Ellipsoid Bell	$230 \times 70 \times 70$	aluminum,
Fractal Bell	$204 \times 85 \times 30$	stainless steel,
		brass, cypress
Scilencer (Ellip.)	$140 \times 90 \times 86$	stainless steel,
Scilencer (Fract.)	$137 \times 100 \times 75$	cotton
Ball chain	230×6×3	stainless
Black background	$1410 \times 860 \times 2$	cotton

Table 1: Cosmical Seeds, size & material list, Scilencer (Ellip. = for Ellipsoid Bell, Fract. = for Fractal Bell), ball chain and black background.

The wooden material off-gas tested by JAXA and passed. To connect metal materials, tungsten and inert. gas were used to weld. Also, stainless wire was used for Ellipsoid Bell.

Total weight was 0.84 kg.



Fig. 4: "Space Musical Instruments - Cosmical Seeds" Ellipsoid Bell (left) & Fractal Bell (right) with each silencer, ball chain.

We asked the astronaut to play in front of the airlock and to record a video with an on-board high-definition (HD) camera while the instruments were played. The set up was tested beforehand in the mock-up of Kibo Japanese Experiment Module (JEM) at JAXA. (Fig. 5)



Fig. 5: Testing the camera angle in the mock-up of Kibo Japanese Experiment Module (JEM) at JAXA (© Ayako Ono / So Negishi / JAXA, photo by JAXA, edited by Ayako Ono)

# **II.III Process and Ingenuity**

Since we needed to develop the instruments on the Earth, we used strings to determine the placement of connecter holes while still maintaining a beautiful resonance similar to a Xylophone.

The strings were also used to simulate an aerial environment like in microgravity.

# III. MUSICAL INSTRUMENTS IN ORBIT III.I Implementation in Orbit

The instruments were successfully launched on October 31, 2011; and this theme was implemented at Japanese module (Kibo) of the ISS on February 10th, 2012. NASA astronaut Daniel C. Burbank (Fig. 6), Expedition 30 commander, operated and played the instruments. (Fig. 1, 2, 3)



Fig. 6: NASA astronaut Daniel C. Burbank, Expedition 30 commander; plays a guitar in the Tranquility node of the International Space Station. (© NASA)



Fig. 5: "Space Musical Instruments - Cosmical Seeds"

Ellipsoid Bell (left) & Fractal Bell (right) with each silencer, ball chain. (© Ayako Ono / So Negishi / JAXA)

# III. II Remarkable Results

Two collaborative pieces of music were provided by two artists. One is the special edition for the instruments, named "Dream Starts" composed by an artist, Jaakko Saari; and another is a two minute edition of "Kiyoraka na sora" composed by an acclaimed pianist, Akira Takahashi.

Rather than the planned 2 minutes each, the astronaut played the instruments along with music repeatedly for about 15 minutes and improved his skills beyond what was outlined in the procedure manual, and we saw his improvement. The astronaut invented how to play. A video was recorded in front of a black background on board the ISS. The HD video camera onboard the ISS has broken pixels because of cosmic radiation. The pixels look like stars. (Fig. 2, 3, 5)

# Discovery

Slow and gentle movement was good, as expected: the instruments sounded clear and beautiful. Because they were floating, the resonance was not dampened by contact with another object.

Ellipsoid Bell: The strength of the treble tone was expected to stand out due to the brass pipe and brass sphere. Cypress wood seemed to work to limit the sound of brass, and we felt the combination was balanced.

Fractal Bell: There is a beautiful combination of the treble tone echo of the brass plate and the soft sound of echoing aluminum plates. The movement was more complex than had been expected.

# VI. FUTURE POSSIBILITIES

# VI.I Outreach Plan

The images which were recorded on the ISS will be shown in workshops, museums, websites and international congresses. By seeing these images, people can imagine what musical instruments in weightlessness are like. The video images will be shown together with 1G version, so that the actual phenomena in microgravity can be understood easily.

We will develop, and encourage the development of, new musical instruments and communication tools to make free time enjoyable on-board.

#### V. CONCLUSION

There were differences between assumption and results. The astronaut inventing his own method of playing was beyond our expectations and was more interesting than the planned procedures.

The space musical instruments may help to develop interest about space and science, and also encourage people to imagine a better future to live, play and work in space.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This project, as a pilot mission of Education Payload Observation (EPO) at the Kibo module onboard the International Space Station, was supported by the independent administrative agency, Japan Aerospace Exploration Agency (JAXA) Space Environment Utilization Center, and the Naito Foundation for this International Astronautical Congress participation.

Special thanks to the people from JAXA, Japan Space Forum (JSF), Japan Manned Space Systems Corporation (JAMSS), I-NET Corporation, Space Engineering Development Co., Ltd. (SED), the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) including astronaut Daniel C. Burbank who helped us to complete this project.

# **REFERENCES**

[1] Baranov VM, Dyemin EP, Stepanov VA, Bystriskaya AF, Guschin VI, Vinokhodova AG et al. Organizational and methodical aspects of simulation experiments with long-term isolation in pressurized chamber. In: Simulation of Extended Isolation: Advances and Problems, edited by Buravkova LB, Bystriskaya AF, Vinokohodva AG, Gusdhin VI, Dyemin EP, Krugovykh VV, et al. Moscow: Slovo; 2001, p. 5–16.

[2] Kanas N. From Earth's orbit to the outer planets and beyond: Psychological issues in space. Acta Astronautica 2011;68:576–81.

[3] Kanas NA, Salnttskiy VP, Boyd JE, Gushin VI, Weiss DS, Saylor SA et al. Crewmember and mission control personnel interactions during International Space Station missions. Aviat Space Environ Med 2007;78:601–7.

[4] Kanas N, Manzey D. Space Psychology and Psychiatry. El Segundo: Microcosm Press; 2003, p. 75–6.

[5] Kanas N, Salnitskiy V, Gushin V, Weiss DS, Grund EM, Flynn C et al. Asthenia -- does it exist in space? Psychosom Med 2001;63:874–80.

[6] Santy PA. Behavior and performance in the space environment. In: Fundamentals of Space Life Sciences, Volume 2, edited by Churchill SE with Foreword by Oser H. Florida: Krieger Publishing Company; 1997, chapt. 14, p. 187–200.

[7] Santy PA, Holland AW, Looper L, Marcondes-North R. Multicultural factors in the space environment: results of an international shuttle crew debrief. Aviat Space Environ Med 1993;64:196–200.

[8] Durocher JJ, Schwartz CE, Carter JR. Sympathetic neural responses to mental stress during acute simulated microgravity. J Appl Physiol 2009;107:518–22.

[9] Rai B, Kaur J. Salivary stress markers and psychological stress in simulated microgravity: 21 days in 6 degree head down tilt. Journal of Oral Science 2011;53:103–7.

[10] Rai B, Kaur J, Foing BH. Stress, workload and physiology demand during extravehicular activity: A pilot study. N Am J Med Sci 2012;4:266–9.

[11] Rai B, Kaur J, Foing BH. Salivary amylase and stress during stressful environment: Three Mars analog mission crews study. Neurosci Lett 2012;518:23–6.

[12] Vernikos J, Hosie RS. The G-Connection, Harness Gravity and Reverse Aging. Lincoln: iUniverse, Inc.; 2009, p. 172–86.

[13] Buckey JC Jr. Space Physiology. New York: Oxford University Press; 2006, p. 34–50.

[14] Bates SC, Marquit J. Psychology: Natural elements as a well-being stimuli in outer space. In: Lunar Settlements, edited by Benaroya H. Boca Raton: CRC Press; 2010, sect. III, chapt. 16, p. 215–24.

# ADDITIONAL READINGS

Schlacht, I.L., Ono, A., Karga, V., Grandry, P., Foing, B. (2012). A field study on the role of art in space exploration. IAC-12.E5.5A.3. 63rd International Astronautical Congress 2012 1-5/10/2012. Napoli: Italy.

Ono, A. (2010). Art: Art as a Psychological Support for the Outer Space Habitat. In: Benaroya, H. (Ed.) Lunar Settlements. Rutgers University Simposium Boca Raton, FL, USA: CRC Press, Taylor & Francis.

Ono, A., Schlacht, I.L (2010). Space Art: aesthetics design as psychological support. In Personal and Ubiquitous Computing. Volume 14 / 2010. Formerly Personal Technologies (2000-2000). On line

http://www.springerlink.com/content/1617-4909. Schlacht, I.L., & Ono, A. (2009). Creative Processs to Improve Astronaut Reliability. IAC-09.B3.2.4, Korea.

Ono, A, Fukudo, S., & Schlacht, I.L. (2009). Countermeasures for Psychological Issues: Soundscape Design for Confined Environments. IAC-09.A1.1.11, Korea.

Schlacht, I.L. & Ono, A. (2007). Natural Design Habitat on the Moon – Lunar Zen Garden. Proceedings of the 9th ILEWG/ILC, International conference on exploration and utilization of the Moon (pp. 219-220). Sorrento, Italy: ESA Press.

Ono, A. & Schlacht, I.L. (2007). "Zen Garden On The Moon" Natural Design As A Key For Reliability In Space Extreme Environment. IAC-07-A1.I.05, India.

<u>Current Paper Reference</u> Ono A., Schlacht I.L., Negishi S., Fukudo S. (2012). Innovative Musical Instruments Designed for Microgravity: Cosmical Seeds. IAC-12.E5.4.5. 63rd International Astronautical Congress 2012 1-5/10/2012. Napoli: Italy.

> Contact Information for IAC Participants Ayako Ono: <u>a.ono@med.tohoku.ac.jp</u> Tel.: +81-(0)80-3339-8751